

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Körner, Marita

Working Paper

Constitutional and legal framework of gender justice in Germany

Working Paper, No. 25

Provided in Cooperation with:

IMB Institute of Management Berlin, Berlin School of Economics and Law

Suggested Citation: Körner, Marita (2006): Constitutional and legal framework of gender justice in Germany, Working Paper, No. 25, Fachhochschule für Wirtschaft Berlin, IMB Institute of Management Berlin, Berlin

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/74343

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





Working Papers

Constitutional and Legal Framework of Gender Justice in Germany

Author: Marita Körner

Section: Economics, Law and Political Sciences

Paper No. 25, 03/2006

Editors

Prof. Dr. Gert Bruche

Prof. Dr. Hansjörg Herr

Prof. Dr. Sven Ripsas

Constitutional and Legal Framework of Gender Justice in Germany

Marita Körner

Paper No. 25, March 2006

Working Papers of the Institute of Management Berlin (IMB) at the Berlin School of Economics (FHW Berlin) Badensche Str. 50-51, D-10825 Berlin

Editors:

Gert Bruche, gbruche@fhw-berlin.de Hansjörg Herr, hansherr@fhw-berlin.de Sven Ripsas, sripsas@fhw-berlin.de

ISSN 1436 3151

Dr. Marita Körner is Professor of Commercial and Labour Law at the Berlin School of Economics (FHW Berlin) and Visiting Professor at the University of Paris X-Nanterre. As a member of the Commission for Labour Law and Equal Treatment within the German Women Lawyers' Association she is regularly involved in the field of gender justice.

Abstract:

It has been a long journey to get from the 1950s when the "natural difference between men and women" was accepted as a reasonable ground for legal and social inequality to today's laws and jurisprudence that aim at compensating for structural disadvantages of women, especially in the workforce. The article lines out this journey, showing that the legal framework for gender justice rests on three pillars: firstly Art. 3 of the Constitution with its different phases of a more and more farreaching interpretation, secondly equal treatment provisions in European Community Law, which have massively influenced the development of the third pillar, German statute law with a growing number of gender justice oriented labour law provisions on the one hand and Equal Treatment Acts for the public service on the other hand. The subject of gender justice is more than ever on the agenda of the legislator as several EC-directives on the matter have to be implemented in German law. The draft of an Anti-Discrimination Act is likely to be enacted in the second half of 2006.

Contents:

A. Introduction	3
B. Legal Framework for Gender Justice	4
I. The Constitution (Basic Law)	4
1. Three phases of interpretation of Art. 3 para. 2 GG	4
2. Affirmative Action?	6
II. European Community Law	7
III. Statute law level	8
 Equal Treatment Acts of the Federal States 	8
2. Labour Law	9
3. Draft of an Anti-Discrimination Act	10
C. Conclusion	11
Literature	12

A. Introduction:

In the 1950s and 60s the "natural differences between men and women" were considered to be an acceptable reason for social inequality. It was common sense that these natural differences should also be reflected in the law. Consequently, German courts held that "the wife is the life-long helper of her husband". A wife could be overruled by her husband in any family-related decision, as the husband was seen to be the head of the family. This went so far as to the wife having to get the consent of her husband for working outside the house.

The other side of the coin was the many restrictions placed on working women. In the public service women had to give up their posts as soon as they got married. This rule was in force until 1953, but the airline Lufthansa found it so attractive that it applied the rule to its employment contracts with stewardesses for a much longer period. Even when this practice was considered to be unconstitutional, Lufthansa very creatively adapted to the new situation by inserting a clause in the stewardesses' contracts stating that the contract would terminate if the stewardess became pregnant.

Some decades later, times have changed. Nearly every girl in Germany expects to enter the workforce, more girls than boys finish secondary school and girls get the better marks. In many subjects, such as law and business administration, 50% of the university students are female and they graduate with better results. Nevertheless, women in Germany still earn 30% less than men in the same type of position²; women disappear along the career ladder: only some 10% of university professors are women and woman are seldom to be found on boards of companies. On the other hand, 90% of part-time workers are female. Women have the biggest share of unprotected, low-paid jobs and they are more often on fixed-term contracts.

¹ So-called *Stichentscheid* (decisive authority), found unconstitutional in 1959 (BVerfG 10, 59). However, the law maintained an exception to the new principle of equal parental authority for crisis situations where the father's decision counted.

² Süddeutsche Zeitung, 15.4.2005 ("Gleicher Job, ungleiche Chancen").

B. Legal framework for Gender Justice

The legal framework in Germany for creating gender equality is threefold:

First and foremost is the constitutional level. Here we will have a closer look at Art. 3 of the Basic Law (GG). Secondly, we have to deal with the European level. It is probably not an exaggeration to say that without European Community law, Gender Justice would look very different in Germany. Thirdly, there is the general statute law level.

I. The Constitution (Basic Law)

Art. 3 guarantees that all persons should be equal before the law. Paragraph 2 deals specifically with gender equality: Between 1949, when the Constitution was first enacted, and 1994, Para. 2 only contained the first sentence: Men and women shall have equal rights. It was up to the Federal Constitutional Court to inject life into this statement and the Court did this according to the social values and mores of the time. We can distinguish three phases of its jurisprudence:

1. Three phases of interpretation of Art. 3 para. 2 GG

a) In the first phase, reaching up to the 1960s the Court concentrated on the biological difference between men and women and interpreted the "same status before the law" as a guarantee that the natural differences should be respected by the law and that women should not have disadvantages due to the "different nature of womanhood" ("Andersartigkeit der Frau"). In this phase the Court declared unconstitutional the family law principle of the "supremacy of the husband"³.

b) In the second phase - the 1970s and early 80s - the Court's decisions turned to emphasizing the equality of the sexes. The division of roles between women and men, which also the Federal Constitutional Court had seen as natural for two decades, was then regarded as no more than tradition that could no longer be justified under Art. 3 para. 2 of the Constitution. In this phase the Court declared e.g. that "the model of the woman, which previously was that of the care-taker of the

³ BVerfGE 37, 217, 251.

family and homemaker, has thoroughly changed" (1978).⁴ It was also in this period that the Court found it unconstitutional that German citizenship was automatically granted to children of German fathers but not to those of German mothers (1974).⁵ Many of the explicit distinctions in the laws, which were discriminatory towards women, were erased in these years so that the Federal Constitutional Court could readapt its focus in the third phase.

c) In this third and lasting phase - the 1980s and onwards - the Federal Constitutional Court began to consider the persisting social distinctions between men and women. In recent years the Court has decided e.g. that equality also has to be guaranteed with respect to the marital name. Since then spouses have been able to freely choose a common name or keep their original one. The Court also held (in 1992) that (some of the) time spent raising children has to be recognized as a legitimate contribution to public retirement insurance. Previously, contributions were exclusively linked to employment. In its current phase, the Court has been concentrating on protective regulations which in reality turn out to be a hindrance to women. Let me mention two key decisions:

(1) In 1992 the Court had to decide on the prohibition on women doing night-time work. The legislature had thought this prohibition protects women, but the Constitutional Court uncovered its discriminatory aspects. In its decision it held:

"The prohibition on women's' night work protects many who are also involved in child-care and housework from night-time labour which might threaten their health. This protection, however, is linked to considerable disadvantages in their search for employment. They cannot freely choose their working hours and therefore cannot, for example, earn over-time wages for night labour. The prohibition of night-work for women reaffirms the traditional roles of the sexes by assuming that only they have child-care duties. Therefore the prohibition on night-work for women is an obstacle to the elimination of the social disadvantages from which women suffer und is thus unconstitutional".⁷

⁴ BVerfGE 48, 327, 338.

⁵ BVerfGE 37, 217, 250.

⁶ BVerfGE 87, 1.

⁷ BVerfGE 85, 191, 209.

(2) Some years later the Constitutional Court had to decide on the prohibition on women working in public fire brigades. The Court held that this prohibition violated the equal rights guarantee of women because they were treated as the weaker gender without taking into account their individual abilities.⁸

2. Affirmative Action?

However, Art. 3 para 2 of the Basic Law has also got a second sentence: "The state shall promote the actual implementation of equal rights for women and men and take steps to eliminate disadvantages that now exist".

This 1994 amendment provides for the first time affirmative support for women. It was the result of a constitutional debate following German reunification which considered that social and economic equality had not yet been achieved. There were far-reaching proposals such as: "the state guarantees the equal status of women in all areas of society" which had no chance of being enacted. The version we have now is, of course, a compromise. However, there is a lot of debate about what the second sentence in para. 2 of Art. 3 really means. Even if one sees it as an obligation on the part of the state to support and promote gender equality, it is not clear what the state is supposed or allowed to do. Against the background of German constitutional jurisprudence it is considered to be more of a programme than a legally binding obligation. Nevertheless the Federal Constitutional Court decided in 2003 that Art. 3 para 2, 2nd sentence aims at approximating the living conditions of men and women in order to grant women and men the same chances in life.

This provision at least supports affirmative action laws which we have on the level of the Federal States for the public service concerning access to employment. Some of these laws provide that in cases of comparable qualifications women have to be given preferential treatment. It is not surprising that this is a matter of ferocious debate among German lawyers. Some of them argue that this type of regulation discriminates against men, which is why the European Court of Justice had to deal with it.

⁸ BVerfGE 92, 91

⁹ BVerfG, Beschluss 18.11.2003 – 1 BvR 302/96 (www.bundesverfassungsgericht.de/entscheidungen)

¹⁰ Sacksofsky, Das Grundrecht auf Gleichbehandlung, Baden-Baden 1997, 2nd Ed.

II. European Community Law

Without European law the level of gender equality achieved in Germany would not be what it is now. If one recalls that what today is the European Union started as a mere economic union, it is at first glance quite surprising that this union was concerned with gender matters at the end of the 1950s. The background to this is that one of the major founding countries, France, already had, at the national level, a relatively well-developed anti-discriminatory employment law. Therefore France thought its companies were at an unfair disadvantage in comparison to companies in other member states, which did not have to comply with any anti-discrimination legislation. Consequently France insisted on the insertion of an equal pay article in the very first EC Treaty (1957): now Art. 141. Later on the then European Community passed equal treatment directives, the most important being Directive 1976/207 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion and working conditions. This directive was recently amended (2002/73/EC).

It is also through the 1976-directive that the concept of indirect discrimination has taken root in German law. According to this concept discrimination may also occur if a regulation, which does not exclude women, nevertheless has more negative effects on them than on men.

One important example of indirect discrimination is the different treatment of part-time workers. At first glance this is not discriminatory as long as all part-timers are treated in the same manner, e.g. all are excluded from company pension schemes. However, if one takes into account that part-time work is performed mainly by women, the discriminatory aspect of specific rules for part-timers becomes more evident.

The indirect discrimination concept in EC legislation has also influenced the Federal Constitutional Court in how it interprets the equal treatment article in the German constitution. Indirect discrimination is today the most common form of discrimination as the direct forms, i.e. laws that exclude women expressly, have become rare in Germany.

Although European law takes priority over domestic legislation, directives are not always easy to implement in the member states. The main characteristic of directives is that they describe the duties of the member states and the aims to be achieved, but leave it to the member states to choose a form of compliance which is in keeping with their own legal system. This means that a directive can be implemented at a high level in one member state and at a very low level in another. As far as gender discrimination is concerned, Germany has tended to belong to the second group of countries. It is then the European Court of Justice which has to decide if a directive has or has not been implemented properly. The Court has been very busy with German discrimination cases in the past, which a most spectacular and very recent example proves: a young woman wanted to join the armed forces but was rejected on the basis of an article in the constitution prohibiting women from rendering service involving the use of arms (Art. 12 a GG old version). The German court dealing with the case referred it to the European Court of Justice, which ruled that the German provision violated the equal treatment directive and had to be changed. It was amended soon thereafter - the first time ever that an article of the constitution has had to be changed because it contravened European law. Now there is an increasing number of German women serving in the armed forces.

III. Statute law level

This leads to the third level of implementing gender justice, general (non-constitutional) statute law.

1. Equal Treatment Acts of the Federal States

A number of public law Equal Treatment Acts have been enacted for the public service at the level of the Federal States.¹¹ They only bind the state in relation to state employees. As has already been mentioned some of them contain clauses granting preferential treatment to women in cases where they have the same qualifications as a man. In three different German cases concerning different Federal State Equal Treatment Acts, the European Court of Justice had to deal with this matter.¹² The Court concluded that these clauses may discriminate against men, but comply with

¹¹ See note 10.

¹² Cases *Kalanke* and *Marschall* and *Badeck*, see Körner, Der Dialog des EuGH mit den deutschen Arbeitsgerichten – Das Beispiel der Gleichbehandlung, NZA 2001, 1046, 1051 ss.; Schieck, Sex equality after *Kalanke* and *Marschall*, European Law Journal, Vol. 4, No. 2, June 1998, p. 148.

the Equal Treatment Directive as long as the preferential treatment of the women is not automatic and the interests of every individual male applicant are also taken into account.

2. Labour Law

In the private law sector no specific anti-discrimination provisions have been enacted so far except in the important field of labour law. The European Equal Treatment Directive of 1976 was transposed into German law by adding § 611a to the Civil Code. This key piece of anti-gender discrimination prohibits gender discrimination by employers in relation to employment contracts, especially as far as access to employment is concerned. In the event of discrimination the Directive provides for an efficient sanction. The German legislature, however, only granted compensation for the costs of applying for the job, which normally amounted to the costs for the paper and the stamp. The European Court of Justice did not accept this as an efficient sanction as required by the Directive and demanded an amendment of the German provision. Although the Directive dates from 1976, in the end it took 22 years (until 1998) and three versions of § 611a before the Directive was finally properly implemented in Germany.¹³

Nevertheless, there are still three problematic aspects of § 611a. The first is the burden of proof. Applicants (of whom most will be women) will rarely be in a position to obtain information which shows that they were discriminated against.

The second difficulty with § 611a is that in practice courts only grant small sums of compensation to applicants who have suffered gender discrimination. Finally, § 611a does not give an applicant who has been rejected a right to be employed, even though this would be the most effective remedy in cases of gender discrimination.

Thus, from an economic perspective it will often be cheaper for an employer to ignore § 611a and simply pay a small amount of compensation to the applicants it rejects. All the same, the future does not look too bleak. A new EC Gender Directive was passed in 2002.¹⁴ It is supposed to reform the 1976 Directive. Now it is up to Germany to implement this Directive. This should already have been done by

¹³ See Körner, note 12, p. 1049.

¹⁴ Directive 2002/73/EG.

October 2005 but due to the change of government in September 2005 the implementation is pending.

3. Draft of an Anti-Discrimination Act

The plan of the previous government was to implement the new Directive by passing a separate Anti-Discrimination Act, which would also implement one additional directive concerning gender discrimination. So far there is still no Act in Germany which exclusively deals with non-discrimination. However, the far-reaching draft of the previous government's Anti-Discrimination Act (ADG - Antidiskriminierungsgesetz)¹⁵, could not be enacted before September 2005. However, as the recent anti-discrimination directives have to be implemented the Great Coalition government presented a draft not very different from the previous one, though renamed (AGG - Allgemeines Gleichstellungsgesetz)¹⁶. The most innovative aspects concerning gender justice are the following:

The labour law field has been mentioned where gender justice, initiated by the European Union, has been on the agenda since the 1970s. One of the new directives covers this field again without changing the structure of the 1976 equal treatment directive.¹⁷ A second equal treatment directive (2004/113/EC), however, widens the scope of gender justice completely. It is supposed to implement the principle of equal treatment between men and women in access to and supply of goods and services and insurance. This means that under this directive it is for example very doubtful if costs for women in health insurances or private pension funds may be higher than for men.¹⁸ This is general practice among German insurance companies today – they justify this practice by arguing that women statistically live longer than men. In a legal context the question is whether this age difference can be regarded as an objective criterion justifying the different treatment of men and women.

¹⁵ Klumpp, Diskontinuität und ihre Folgen für das Antidiskriminierungsrecht, NZA 2005, 848.

¹⁶ Entwurf eines Gesetzes zur Umsetzung europäischer Richtlinien zur Verwirklichung des Grundsatzes der Gleichbehandlung: Allgemeines Gleichbehandlungsgesetz (AGG), to be found in: www.bmj.bund.de ¹⁷ See note 14.

¹⁸ For details on this aspect: Körner, Staatlich subventionierte private Altersversorgung und Gleichbehandlungsgrundsatz - Riester-Rente und Eichel-Förderung, Edition der Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, Nr. 117, Düsseldorf 2004.

C. Conclusion

To sum up it can be concluded that it has been a long journey from the 1949 declaration in the new German constitution that men and women have equal rights to today's laws and jurisprudence that now try to compensate for structural disadvantages that women encounter. However, the last step so far, the draft bill of the Anti-Discrimination Act, shows that gender justice is an ongoing process, even in a country which has been seriously attempting to make progress in this matter for nearly sixty years.

Unfortunately things are slowing down if not to say are going backwards. On the one hand many young German women no longer feel the need for further work on equal treatment since they never felt discriminated against at school or university. Thus they think that equal treatment is a mission which has been accomplished 19. On the other hand the difficult economic situation in Germany is not a good starting point for extending constitutional rights. Particularly in this climate, it could be easy for the more conservative political forces to push gender justice into the background.

There is, however, a light at the end of the tunnel: in December 2005 the European Court of Justice had to decide on another discrimination matter. In the Mangold-case²⁰ the court was not concerned about gender discrimination but age discrimination in employment. Although the respective directive²¹ is not yet in force in Germany and only has to be implemented by 2007 the Court held that the principle of anti-discrimination is also to be found in conventions of Public International Law, ratified by Germany and thus has to be applied in the national context, even with direct effect on the private parties to an employment contract.²²

¹⁹ See DIE ZEIT Nr.17, 20.4.2006, S. 61.

²⁰ EuGH, NJW 2005, 3695.

²¹ Richtlinie 2000/78/EG zur Gleichbehandlung in Beschäftigung und Beruf.

²² For a closer look on the Mangold-case: Körner, Europäisches Verbot der Altersdiskriminierung in Beschäftigung und Beruf, NZA 2005, 1395; Bauer/Arnold, Auf "Junk" folgt "Mangold" - Europarecht verdrängt deutsches Arbeitsrecht, NJW 2006, 6; Preis, Verbot der Altersdiskriminierung als Gemeinschaftsgrundrecht, NZA 2006, 401.

Literature:

Körner, M. (2004): Staatlich subventionierte private Altersversorgung und Gleichbehandlungsgrundsatz. Edition der Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, Nr. 117.

Lenz/Coen (2003), Kommentar zum EU- und EG-Vertrag, 3. Auflg.

Rudolf, B./Mahlmann, M. (2006), Gleichbehandlungsrecht, Berlin

Sacksofsky, U. (1997): Das Grundrecht auf Gleichbehandlung.

Schaub, G. (2005): Arbeitsrechtshandbuch, 11. Auflage, München.

Schiek, D. (2000): Differenzierte Gerechtigkeit

Working Papers des Institute of Management Berlin (IMB) an der Fachhochschule für Wirtschaft Berlin

- 1 Bruche, Gert / Pfeiffer, Bernd: Herlitz (A) Vom Großhändler zum PBS-Konzern Fallstudie, Oktober 1998
- 2 Löser, Jens: Das globale Geschäftsfeld "Elektrische Haushaltsgroßgeräte" Ende der 90er Jahre Fallstudie, Oktober 1998
- 3 Lehmann, Lutz Lars: Deregulation and Human Resource Management in Britain and Germany Illustrated with Coca-Cola Bottling Companies in Both Countries, March 1999
- 4 Bruche, Gert: Herlitz (B) Strategische Neuorientierung in der Krise Fallstudie, April 1999
- Herr, Hansjörg / Tober, Silke: Pathways to Capitalism Explaining the Difference in the Economic Development of the Visegrad States, the States of the Former Soviet Union and China, October 1999
- Bruche, Gert: Strategic Thinking and Strategy Analysis in Business A Survey on the Major Lines of Thought and on the State of the Art, October 1999, 28 pages
- 7 Sommer, Albrecht: Die internationale Rolle des Euro, Dezember 1999, 31 Seiten
- 8 Haller, Sabine: Entwicklung von Dienstleistungen Service Engineering und Service Design, Januar 2000
- 9 Stock, Detlev: Eignet sich das Kurs-Gewinn-Verhältnis als Indikator für zukünftige Aktienkursveränderungen?, März 2000
- 10 Lau, Raymond W.K.: China's Privatization, June 2000
- Breslin, Shaun: Growth at the Expense of Development? Chinese Trade and Export-Led Growth Reconsidered, July 2000, 30 pages
- Michel, Andreas Dirk: Market Conditions for Electronic Commerce in the People's Republic of China and Implications for Foreign Investment, July 2000, 39 pages
- Bruche, Gert: Corporate Strategy, Relatedness and Diversification, September 2000, 34 pages
- 14 Cao Tingui: The People's Bank of China and its Monetary Policy, October 2001, 21 pages
- Herr, Hansjörg: Wages, Employment and Prices. An Analysis of the Relationship Between Wage Level, Wage Structure, Minimum Wages and Employment and Prices, June 2002, 60 pages
- Herr, Hansjörg / Priewe, Jan (eds.): Current Issues of China's Economic Policies and Related International Experiences The Wuhan Conference 2002 , February 2003, 180 pages
- Herr, Hansjörg / Priewe, Jan: The Macroeconomic Framework of Poverty Reduction An Assessment of the IMF/World Bank Strategy, February 2003, 69 pages
- 18 Wenhao, Li: Currency Competition between EURO and US-Dollar, June 2004, 18 pages
- 19 Kramarek, Maciej: Spezifische Funktionen des Leasings in der Transformationsperiode, Juni 2004, 32 Seiten

- Godefroid, Peter: Analyse von Multimedia-Lern/Lehrumgebungen im Fach Marketing im englischsprachigen Bereich inhaltlicher Vergleich und Prüfung der Einsatzfähigkeit an deutschen Hoschulen, September 2004, 48 Seiten
- 21 Kramarek, Maciej: Die Attraktivität des Leasings am Beispiel polnischer Regelungen der Transformationsperiode, April 2005, 33 Seiten
- 22 Pan, Liu / Tao, Xie: The Monetary Policy Transmission in China "Credit Channel" and its Limitations
- Hongjiang, Zhao / Wenxu, Wu / Xuehua, Chen: What Factors Affect Small and Medium-sized Enterprise's Ability to Borrow from Bank: Evidence from Chengdu City, Capital of Southwestern China's Sichuan Province, May 2005, 23 pages
- Fritsche, Ulrich: Ergebnisse der ökonometrische Untersuchung zum Forschungsprojekt der Hans-Böckler-Stiftung Wirtschaftspolitische Regime westlicher Industrienationen Unterschiede, Wachstumsperspektiven und wirtschaftspolitische Optionen in ausgewählten Ländern, Februar 2006, 210 Seiten
- Körner, Marita: Constitutional and Legal Framework of Gender Justice in Germany, 2006, 10 pages